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A SHATTERING CHRONICLE!

Based upon independent investigation, numerous exclusive interviews and recently declassified documents revealing in their implications.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND A NOTE ON SOURCES

Martin Bormann did all he could to prevent information about himself from reaching his enemies. War criminals sank into a similar anonymity. Their postwar movements were followed by Allied joint intelligence teams, and their findings, particularly in the case of Bormann, became a primary source of information. Some of this material is available in the National Archives, Washington, D.C., and is classified as “privileged.” Similar material was declassified by the British in 1972 and can be traced through the Public Record Office. However, the hunt for Bormann and his Nazi brothers continued into the period still covered by countries’ various official secrecy acts. A report involving espionage and secret-police operations is bedeviled by difficulties of this sort. Some sources cannot be plainly identified; some informants risk the vengeance of Nazi self-protection gangs.

I have mentioned in the text those authorities who can be identified; I am, of course, most grateful for their help. Listed here are some of the individuals to whom I am also indebted. I have added the names of those libraries from which came most of my background information and many of my leads. The mention of film libraries as well may seem a trifle eccentric. In the case of an elusive personality like Bormann, I found a new method in use among investigative agencies utilizing old newsreels. These conveyed in an uncanny fashion the man’s true dimensions. I would like to thank the film archivists who helped catch Bormann flitting through old and scratched film. He was examined frame by frame until we became familiar with small gestures and other mannerisms which he would have difficulty changing.

It is the practice in any historical survey of this kind to support certain assertions with detailed references to the writer’s authorities. I have quoted from documents which at the time they were written were secret and confidential. Time changed their grading. To avoid embarrassment, however, I have not referred to documents that are not yet open to public inspection in the United States and Britain, although I have seen parallel documents in European archives, where their authenticity is beyond doubt.

In the case of individual accounts, Thucydides said it all when he commented upon the difficulty of chronicling the Peloponnesian War. The stories of battle commanders did not tally with the facts. General impressions were misleading. Eyewitnesses had to be double-checked because “many suffered either from partiality for one side or the other or else from imperfect memories.” So far as I have been able, I have taken into account here the imperfections and fallibilities of human memory. Most direct quotations come from transcripts of tape recordings or from shorthand notes.

The full verbatim account of the Nuremberg trials provided much information on Bormann and those who escaped through his foresight. Rather than refer to the many sources now available, which would tend to bewilder anyone pursuing this investigation further, I suggest consulting the twenty-three volumes of reports on the trials published by Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. It also confuses the issue to refer to the numbered Nuremberg trials documents, because not all were put in evidence; and of those put in evidence, not all were accepted by the court; but a tendency exists to regard any such documents as established evidence.

The long bibliographies that were a feature of books on the Nazi period tend nowadays to overlap to such an extent that it seemed more practical to refer to recent publications covering most of the existing literature. The opening of British Foreign Office files covering the war years and the relaxation of secrecy restrictions on certain Allied intelligence operations have also made clear inconsistencies and contradictions in earlier reports. This has been particularly true of Bormann himself, whose monstrous influence has become apparent only in more recent times.

The help given to me varied, naturally, because some individuals and libraries had more material to offer than others. Lord Russell of Liverpool, who was legal adviser to the British Commander in Chief in occupied Germany in the early postwar years, does deserve special mention because he was for a long time a voice crying in the wilderness. His experiences during the war-crimes trials led him to write The Scourge of the Swastika, and by the end of the 1960’s he was disturbed enough to obtain the full text of the neo-Nazi National Democratic party manifesto and to gather the records of Nazi war criminals who, by one device or another, had cheated justice.

The late chief of the U.S. Office of Strategic Services, General William J. Donovan, left personal notes, which some of his friends and former agents have been kind enough to let me see, believing that he would have wanted this. The wartime chiefs of American and British secret agencies contributed personal accounts that had a bearing on the preparations for escape undertaken by thousands of leading Nazi figures in the midst of Germany’s military campaigns.

Some German sources might prefer not to be acknowledged. I gained useful insight into the mentality of Hitler’s military commanders from a book published in 1941 by a general staff officer of the First Panzer Division, called Tanks Between Warsaw and the Atlantic. The author, twenty-five years later, became Supreme Commander of all NATO forces in Europe. He was General Count von Kielmansegg. The memoirs of other German personalities have been consulted, but with reservations. And it is important to note that East Germany’s own use of former military commanders under Hitler is still a closed book. I have restricted myself to an account of events that, in the main, occurred in areas open to public scrutiny. One can only hope that in time it will be possible to give a fuller report on how the Soviet Union also made its private arrangements with men guilty of crimes against humanity.

In thanking the individuals listed alphabetically below, I hope it will not be thought they were responsible for conclusions other than those directly quoted, nor that they have broken the long silence imposed by the various secrecy acts.

Professor Niels Bohr: He provided me with introductions to the Academy of Sciences of the Ukraine, USSR. Professor Bohr died, in 1962, dedicated to the belief that secrecy with regard to the escape of Nazi war criminals was an impediment to mankind’s progress. He had worked under Nazi rule in Copenhagen until August 1943, when, aware of Germany’s growing interest in his development of atomic energy, he escaped.

Colonel André Dewavrin: He parachuted twice into Nazi-occupied France on missions for the British secret service. He became expert in unconventional warfare and a source of up-to-date information on the movements of Nazi war criminals.

Alexander Foote: This Englishman, recruited into Soviet intelligence service, worked in Switzerland in association with the legendary “Lucy,” the Russian espionage expert with a direct line to the German high command. Foote kept a record of Nazi preparations in Switzerland for postwar financing of escape agencies, and before he died he delivered the details to British intelligence.

Welles Hangen: The National Broadcasting Company’s Far East bureau chief, who disappeared and was one of many American correspondents listed as missing in the wars of Indochina, was the New York Times correspondent in Moscow when we together tackled the Soviet bureaucracy on the question of Martin Bormann’s alleged service as a Russian agent.

Iser Harel: He is the former chief of Israel intelligence, the Shin Beth, or National Security Office, which controls Sheruth Modiin, the military intelligence department.

Richard Hughes: The doyen of Western correspondents in Asia, Far East expert for the Times of London and the Economist, he provided me with some little-known facts about the Soviet spy Richard Sorge. It was through his initiative while he was in Moscow that the British spies Guy Burgess and Donald Maclean were produced for the first time to confirm that they had indeed returned to their Soviet masters. Hughes is a veteran in investigative reporting, combining experience in police methods with a considerable knowledge of Nazi and Soviet affairs. His many years of active and concentrated interest in the travels of Nazi war criminals provided guidelines for this book.

Hermann Langbein: Secretary of the International Concentration Camp Committee, which documents and tries to secure the punishment of Nazi war criminals, he asked me in 1972 to publicize some of the grosser examples of prominent Germans in public life today whose trials have been delayed by various excuses; “Possibly one can still change the practice of German Law Courts which at the moment permit a defendant to simply choose a busy barrister who then keeps asking for postponements of these trials….”

Paul Leverkühn: The German military intelligence director of Mideast operations, he provided some details of how Nazi Mideast spy rings became ODESSA escape routes. He had been a close admirer of Admiral Canaris, his chief, less for that man’s reluctance to go to war with the West than for his bitter anti-Communist feelings. He defended German supreme headquarters senior commanders at their trials, including Field Marshal Fritz von Manstein, and in this role developed an undying hostility to Dr. Otto John, who exposed Manstein’s dishonesty.

General Leandro Sanchez Salazar: Formerly chief of the Mexican secret service, he guided me through many of the problems of dealing with police forces in Latin America.

Milton Shulman: Now of the London Evening Standard, he was a Toronto Star correspondent who, as a qualified barrister, interrogated senior German Army commanders on behalf of British military intelligence in the war’s aftermath. He had made himself expert on the German Army as a major in Canadian military intelligence.

Jacques Soustelle: French Governor-General in Algeria under De Gaulle, he worked for the Free French in Latin America against Nazi operations there during the war.

Südwestfunk, of Hans-Bredowstrasse, Baden-Baden, West Germany: A documentary by this company, broadcast in July 1972, drew public attention to the case of Dr. Josef Thümmler, the Gestapo chief of Katowice and President of the infamous Auschwitz Summary Court. The West German prosecutors declared themselves unable to assemble the material from Poland that would make a case. The producer of the documentary, Henning Roehl, then went to Poland and obtained the material documenting the alleged atrocities. Thümmler was pensioned off by his employers: Zeiss-Werken.

Bickham Sweet-Escott: Some of the frustrations of piecing together a puzzle of this nature were conveyed by Mr. Sweet-Escott, of Special Operations, who wrote in his book Baker Street Irregular that there were no real secrets, “least of all from the people who work in the huge wedding-cake skyscrapers which house the Soviet Ministry of Foreign Affairs.” He cut through a great deal of the bureaucratic red tape with the observation that professional historians in their own parts of Europe had managed to re-create an account of events in spite of the inaccessibility of the official records kept by Anglo-American governments, “without whom there would have been no resistance to the Nazis.” An earlier book he wrote on British secret operations was based upon what published material then existed. The typescript was sent to the British War Office for clearance under the Official Secrets Act in late 1954. Half a year later, he was informed that the strongest objections were taken to the book and he would be liable for prosecution under the law if he went ahead and published. Eventually, after many arguments, and with the help of friends in high places, he was able to bring out a somewhat censored version. Such are the vagaries of military security.

Kurt Tank: One of Hitler’s weaponry experts, he first drew my attention to escape routes when I found him in India. Tank was an aircraft designer who worked in Cairo on the Egyptian-built He 300 fighter under the direction of “Herr Doktor Mahmoud.” Tank became controller of production in Bangalore, India, of the first Indian jet fighter, the Hindustan HF 24. It was in Bangalore that I talked with him about escape routes he had followed, first to Argentina.

Sir Robert Thompson: Chief of the British Advisory Mission in Vietnam and formerly director of counter-terrorist work in Malaya and Borneo, he provided expertise on escape and evasion techniques.

James Wei: Special adviser to Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek, formerly of Yenching University, and a keen historian, he kept records of Hitler’s military commanders who during the war made inquiries about future work and later came to Taiwan on arms missions. A man of many talents and great intellectual resources, he was director-general of the Republic of China information services and took an amateur interest that would put professional detectives to shame. His knowledge of Latin America and the movements of war criminals, through his country’s embassies and missions in that area, proved profound and accurate.

Vice-Admiral A. G. N. Wyatt: Hydrographer of the British Royal Navy, he charted U-boat movements at war’s end.

Marshal Georgi Zhukov: Russian suspicions about escaping Nazis were described by this Soviet military leader, who in World War II was in over-all command of Soviet forces in Germany when Stalin refused to stop investigating the possibility that even Hitler got away. He had studied in Berlin during Soviet-German military collaboration, 1923-33. He was kind enough to discuss the mystery surrounding the Berlin escapees and later, from Stalingrad, sent further notes, which were intended for his memoirs.

Archives were more accessible by 1973. Those given here are an indication of the immense amount of material available. Unfortunately, many documents only confirm the confusion among Nazi officials whose day-by-day accounts often contradict each other. Evidence given at trials has to be read with due regard for the defendants’ anxiety to please their captors. Military trials held by Yugoslav, Czech, Polish, Norwegian, Russian, and other tribunals nevertheless cast a fresh light on events because in some cases the verbatim reports have only now become available. The Russian documents were not printed except in brief excerpts, and so their contents have been obtained at second hand. The German trials of war criminals have been preserved in court copies of the charges and the summing-up speeches.

The phrase “Third Reich” is used here in the sense of Germany’s hopes and ambitions of that time for a Thousand-Year Reich. The National Socialist regime came to be called the “Greater German Empire” after the proclamation of the Third Reich in 1933. This confusion of terms sometimes misleads the student. Librarians usually file material under “Third Reich” in chronological order from 1933 to 1945, and the subsequent fate of believers in a thousand-year empire has to be pursued through cross references. A source of postwar information is, of course, the Central Office for the Elucidation of National Socialist Crimes at Ludwigsburg, West Germany.

The Ludwigsburg Office is to bring its activities to a close in 1980. Now, so long after the end of the war, as the Chief Prosecutor for that office has said, the chances of satisfactorily clearing up cases are steadily deteriorating. A comprehensive report on the prosecution and punishment of war criminals and of persons who have committed crimes against humanity was requested by the United Nations General Assembly in its resolution 2583 (XXIV) of December 15, 1969. This was answered in a statement by the Federal Republic of Germany on July 9, 1970, which showed that the West German authorities had sentenced twelve convicted war criminals to death and 6,215 to varying terms of imprisonment, which under German law can be shortened considerably on grounds of good behavior. The reader is referred to the Bonn statement, which sets forth the total figures and an explanation of the difficulty in pursuing investigations and securing convictions.

Two indispensable sources, the first of which is found in a few specialist libraries, were the ten volumes on Nazi Conspiracy and Aggression published by the U.S. Government Printing Office in 1946, and Mein Kampf. The U.S. Nazi party, in its monthly White Power and in the National Renaissance Bulletin, regularly advertises Mein Kampf as “the bible of National-Socialism.”

Amnesty International, of New York and London, is an overworked but resourceful documentation center which has assembled material on fascist-type police methods in Latin America. For many reasons, not the least being the danger in which informants stand if identified by police agencies in their own countries, Amnesty does not publicly identify sources. It does keep a most careful watch over the credibility of those who seek help through its intervention. The organization is voluntary and relies upon the sense of obligation shared by leading legal authorities in those countries where the phrase “secret police” is still offensive. Much of the background to reports of Nazi war-criminal organizations has been assembled by Amnesty researchers, working sometimes in conditions of danger.

The Hispanic and Luso-Brazilian councils, at Canning House, Belgrave Square, London, have the largest library in Europe specializing in Spanish, Portuguese, and Latin-American affairs, and work in close liaison with government institutions in the United Kingdom and abroad.

The Central State Archives of the USSR contain relevent documents under Sovietskiye Organy Gosudarstviennoy Bezopasnost (Soviet Organ of State Security) and transcripts of trials before military tribunals of the USSR Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of the German Democratic Republic.

Officials of the Supreme Court of the (East) German Democratic Republic made available transcripts of trials: and the editors of Neue Justiz in Leipzig helped in tracing Nazi documents recently assembled from places of hiding in East Germany.

Documents surrendered to the American security forces in 1945 by General Gehlen were microfilmed, and copies are stored in the National Archives in Washington, D.C.

The collection of the Institut für Zeitgeschichte in Munich includes summaries said to come from the original diaries of Admiral Canaris; the location of the originals is as yet unknown to the general public.

The Institute of Jewish Affairs of London works in association with the World Jewish Congress to advance education in the field of human relationships, and its excellent team of researchers produces background papers on the causes of racial and religious stress.

Military archives at Freiburg, in Breisgau (Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv), of the Federal Republic of Germany contain originals of records from Hitler’s supreme headquarters (Oberkommando der Wehrmacht).

No serious work on the postwar history of Nazi war criminals can ignore the detailed case histories assembled by Simon Wiesenthal, of the Vienna Documentation Center.

Visnews, the international film-news service of London, provided access to newsreels of the Hitler period in which Martin Bormann makes his rare appearances.

The Wiener Library of London rendered invaluable service. There is no work of importance on the political science of the totalitarian era that is complete without reference to this unique center. Founded in Amsterdam in 1933 by Dr. Alfred Wiener, a refugee from Nazi persecution, the library was transferred to London in the long hot summer of 1939, a few weeks before Britain declared war on Hitler’s Germany; and it became virtually part of the British Ministry of Information, from which a large quantity of intelligence and secret operations derived their inspiration. The library contains among many thousands of documents some 5,000 files relating to the “final solution” as recorded in the papers of the German Foreign Office, the chancellery of the Nazi party, and local Gestapo offices.

Other prime sources of information were the Archives of Radio Free Europe, in Munich; Partisan warfare papers in the Yugoslav State Secretariat for National Defense; Ernst Kaltenbrunner’s reports to Bormann for Hitler on the July 1944 plot; The Hoover Institution on War, Revolution and Peace, Stanford University, Palo Alto, California; “Kontraobaveshtayna Slushba” (“Counterespionage Service”) in Volume 4 of Voyna Encyclopedia, published in Belgrade; National Research Council archives of the Canadian government in Ottawa; National Film Archives, Ottawa; U.S. Office of Naval Intelligence reviews from 1946: National Archives and Record Service of the U.S. General Services Administration, Washington, D.C.; Royal Canadian Mounted Police security-service archives, which include the report of the Royal Commission on the Canadian spy case involving Igor Gouzenko and the use of forged passports.

The military museums of several nations yielded film and documents which helped bring into focus Bormann’s friends and enemies. These museums include that of the Yugoslav People’s Army in Belgrade, the Norwegian Museum of Resistance to the Nazi Occupiers in Oslo, Canadian Army Headquarters in Ottawa, and the Imperial War Museum in London, which contains perhaps the only surviving copies of film shot on Hitler’s movie camera by Bormann. Interfoto MTI of Budapest was able to turn up photographs of Bormann with Himmler taken shortly before the chief of secret-police groups was sent to command the Rhine and Vistula armies. There is an unmistakable gleam of joy in Bormann’s eye as he says farewell to his last enemy.

Because several of the researchers on this project must remain anonymous for their own protection, others agreed with me that it would be unfair to name some and not all. This is an inadequate way of thanking all of them. Motivated by a strong sense of justice, they checked and double-checked my work. Any mistakes are my own. One who need not remain anonymous, although his old comrades in arms will remember him as INTREPID, is Sir William Stephenson, who made this journey through a terrible chapter in history possible.



FOREWORD TO THE SKYHORSE EDITION


By Dick Russell

This was among the first books published by the prolific Canadian author William Stevenson, who died in 2013 at the age of eighty-nine. A World War II pilot for the British, Stevenson afterward became a foreign correspondent in Toronto with a wide range of intelligence sources—and published two bestsellers in the 1970s (A Man Called Intrepid and 90 Minutes at Entebbe). Of all his work, The Bormann Brotherhood (1973) remains his most intriguing, and the most relevant to today’s world.

As Germany fell to the Allies, did Hitler’s righthand man escape from the legendary bunker—perhaps in a U-boat or across the Danish border—soon taking refuge in South America with full knowledge (and likely assistance) of US spymasters? Had Bormann’s plans for a Fourth Reich then come to secret fruition as he oversaw a vast trove of post-war Nazi wealth while residing for years in Argentina and eventually dying in Paraguay?

These are among the major questions Stevenson addresses in a wide-ranging, fluidly-written scholarly investigation set against the backdrop of the Cold War, in which several other of Hitler’s chief lieutenants—including Reinhard Gehlen and Otto Skorzeny—played prominent roles in the subsequent American fight against the Soviet Union.

Bormann reputedly took with him from Hitler’s bunker a thousand-plus pages of a manuscript titled “Notes for the Future.” As the fellow who kept the accounts for the Führer, and was himself the wealthiest man in Nazi Germany, he’d earlier managed to smuggle out millions in forged banknotes and gold toward financing groups in the Middle East and Latin America. And Stevenson, while tracking sources through a number of countries, leaves little doubt that Bormann’s future included liaisons with not only the CIA but the Vatican.

The year before Stevenson’s book came out, a skeleton matching Bormann’s features had allegedly been dug up in Berlin. For years German prosecutors held onto the remains until finally, in 1998, scientists compared the DNA from a piece of the skull with a tissue sample donated by an eighty-three-year-old relative of Bormann’s. Maintaining that these were identical, German authorities declared a “case closed.”

Not mentioned was evidence from Doppelgängers, a book published in 1995 by forensics expert Hugh Thomas, which describes the skull having been encased in a red clay type of earth not found in Germany but common to a locale in Paraguay—where Stevenson and others believe Bormann died, probably sometime in the early 1970s.

Subsequent books have backed up Stevenson’s landmark research. In 1974, military historian Ladislas Farago published Aftermath: Martin Bormann and the Fourth Reich. His team of four distinguished international attorneys, after poring through previously-classified Argentinian documents, reached a unanimous conclusion that Bormann had escaped Europe with the help of the Allies.

A similar determination came in counterintelligence expert Paul Manning’s 1981 book, Martin Bormann: Nazi in Exile. One banker quoted, regarding the 750 corporations established by Bormann in neutral countries, described his organization as “the world’s most important accumulation of money power under one control in history.”

All this and more is detailed in The Bormann Brotherhood: foreign companies making a fortune on clandestine arms sales, the group courting political leaders in Cairo and Indonesia while working to foment American enmity against the USSR, protection received from Pope Pius XII, and Cold War intrigues surrounding double agent Kim Philby. While tracing the roots of the story to World War II, Stevenson personally interviewed Hitler’s onetime banker Hjalmar Schacht, Nazi General and later head of West German Intelligence Reinhard Gehlen, and counterspy Otto John.

The Bormann mystery has never gone away. Since 2010, new evidence has surfaced from both eyewitnesses and archives in Argentina that the CIA was keeping tabs on Bormann as late as 1967 and the FBI was sending agents to follow his money trail well into the 1980s. Not a public word was ever sounded by either agency.

There is no small irony in the words Hitler once screamed to his photographer: “Whoever is against Bormann is against the state.”

Did Martin Bormann end up an old man paddling a canoe along the silent banks of the Putamayo River? Perhaps. Or is his legacy something far larger and more sinister? Toward the end of his book, written forty-five years ago, William Stevenson offered what he called “a cautionary note to us and to our inheritors. The despicable forces loosed by the Third Reich are not expunged, although, like some virulent virus, they may have changed to other forms and be difficult to identify. They remain malignant and as potentially dangerous as before. If there is any value to the persistence of the Bormann puzzle, let it be to remind us of the darkest side of human nature that he and his brothers so monstrously exemplify.”
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PART ONE

THE PUZZLE




CHAPTER 1

The man in London’s Festival Hall coffee shop said: “Nobody wants to believe I shot Bormann.”

“Are you still certain it was he?”

“Absolutely.”

A waitress banged past with a tray of rattling mugs.

“Things don’t change much, do they?” he said, glancing at the steaming urn. “Just like an army canteen.”

He was a big man. I could imagine the lightweight Sten gun between those thick hands.

“You mean you’re absolutely certain it was Martin Bormann?”

“Do I look daft enough to say it was if it wasn’t?”

“No.” I turned my head. The Thames glittered in the sunlight. Big red double-deck buses lumbered past London Bridge.

“I mean, I’ve nothing to gain.”

Nobody ever had. Thirty times some honest individual had come forward with enough evidence to warrant an investigation. Thirty different investigations leading nowhere.

“You see,” he said, “the real truth is, they don’t want to find him.”

“They?”

“The lot back in power in West Germany. The letter I got from the State Attorney’s office was written by an ex-Nazi. Found his name in the Brown Book.”

“More coffee, luv?” asked the waitress, in that aggrieved voice of the Cockney who thinks you’ve had more than your tuppence’s worth already.

“Yes,” the large man said obstinately. “We do want more coffee.”

“Orl right. Keep yer shirt on!” She disappeared, a teaspoon hanging on a string from her waist like a jailer’s key.

It was eleven o’clock on the morning of June 19, 1972, and I was talking to Ronald Gray, former member of the British Army Intelligence Corps; trained gunman with the 33rd Armoured Brigade; mentioned in American dispatches for his counterintelligence work in Korea; Identity Card No. 001237, signed by U.S. General James Van Fleet; later served with Her Majesty’s Admiralty Criminal Investigation Department; now living at West Wickham in Kent and a regular traveler to Germany. I had done my homework.

“What’s the Brown Book?”

“A secret Russian book. Lists all the names of the Bonzen, the Nazi party bigwigs, Gestapo, SS, what war crimes they committed, and how they’re back in every key job in West Germany today.”

“It’s not secret, this book. You can buy all four hundred pages in East Berlin.”

“Oh.” He looked down at his clasped hands. “Well, it was secret when I saw it.”

A stubborn man. Well dressed, without show. Conservative tie. Shoes polished with the dedication of a good soldier. When I came into the coffee shop, at the time he had designated, he was nowhere to be seen. I had never met him before and had no idea whom to look for. I slid into a booth by the windows and suddenly he was there. A fast man on his feet but slow and stubborn if he felt like it.

It could have been just another story. Except that Gray told it differently, not knowing that his observations were a curious confirmation of reports he could not possibly have seen. He was certain he had shot Bormann. I guessed that he was intended to believe he had witnessed the death of Adolf Hitler’s puppetmaster. There had been a gun battle and then, in the light of a winter’s moon, he thought he had seen Bormann’s body weighted and dropped into Flensborg Fjord.

The town of Flensburg is in the northernmost tip of Germany. Escaping criminals find it fairly easy to cross from there into Denmark and then to proceed across the narrow strait between Copenhagen and Malmö, in southern Sweden. It is also in that most authoritarian of all states, Schleswig-Holstein, full of gloomy castles and dark memories. Flensburg was the last refuge of the last government of the Third Reich under the “weekend Führer,” Grand Admiral Karl Doenitz. It was the last name on the map before German armies, pouring in in panic from the Russians, fell into the fjord. It was the northern retreat for escaping Nazis; an alternative exit to the Alpine Fortress, which covered the mountains that sprawled over three frontiers to the south.

In March 1946, when the picket fences of Germany were plastered with scraps of paper informing homeless citizens that this or that relative was in such a camp or such a hospital, Ronald Gray crossed the frontier near Flensburg on a regular British Army courier route. In his pocket he carried photographs of major Nazis wanted on charges of war crimes. The chief among these was Martin Bormann.

Gray recalled that in those days nobody knew what had happened to Bormann. He was regarded as the evil genius. It was many years before he was recognized as a conspirator of even more grotesque size. He was hated by Hitler’s henchmen. He was also feared by them. He had been seen escaping from the Führer’s bunker in Berlin after the suicides of Hitler and of Bormann’s remaining enemy, Joseph Goebbels. Some thought Bormann had, all along, worked for Stalin. He had been the secret promoter, they said, of every move that guaranteed a Russian victory, so that, in the guise of rolling back the German armies, Stalin had seized half of Europe.

Others among Gray’s colleagues said Bormann was in Washington quietly dictating an account of how a civilized nation had gone berserk.

The Russians suspected that Bormann had always been working for the British. The British had a sinking feeling that they had depth-charged (accidentally, of course) a German submarine bearing Bormann to his Brotherhood abroad.

Gray was not bothered in those days by misgivings of this kind. He knew that among Flensburg’s attractions was the presence of U-boats whose commanders subscribed to Plan Regenbogen (Rainbow), which called for scuttling their vessels rather than surrendering—a plan that would, however, cover the escape of some. He knew, too, that Bormann was aware of the illegal traffic between these coastal waters and Sweden during the war; the scientists vital to developing Germany’s atomic bomb had been among those who slipped out in that fashion while the Nazis still controlled Fortress Europe.

Gray was trailing his coat in the hope of drawing out any members of the escape organizations, which the Nazis, ironically, based upon Allied spy routes. Allied soldiers with multiple re-entry passes had been approached with offers of money to help escapees. Gray traveled three times a week past British military police, German border guards, and Danish customs men. His face was familiar—familiar enough that an agent for the SS and Gestapo “welfare organizations” might try to bribe him.

At the end of Europe’s worst winter, Gray was approached by a young German girl, Ursula Schmidt. She had been asked to make contact with him, she said, by a group of refugees in a wooden barracks at Flensburg. For 30,000 Danish kroner, about $10,000, they wanted him to take someone across the border. Gray agreed. He told me that he borrowed the uniform of Captain Ronald Grundy to disguise the fugitive. On the night of the escape, he drove in a British Army truck to the Flensburg rendezvous and collected a thickset man muffled in castoff clothing.

The man struggled into Grundy’s uniform jacket, pulled the peaked cap over his eyes, and told Gray to drive on. It was nearly midnight. The border guards recognized Gray and the truck and waved them through. Gray drove another three miles. His passenger ordered him to stop. He got out and stuck black tape in a star over the nearside headlight. At that moment, said Gray, he recognized Bormann. He was, he told me, frightened. And added, revealingly: “I saw this wasn’t going to be one of those thank-you-and-good-by jobs. I was supposed to be paid on delivery. I was going to be lucky to get away alive.”

The passenger made Gray drive through the Danish village of Rinkenaes, and then ordered him to stop. His manner was curt now. To their left ran a railroad. On the right glimmered the waters of Flensborg Fjord. A flashlight winked in the light mist, reflecting on a thin layer of ice. Gray’s client got out onto the road, took off the British jacket and cap, and suddenly broke into a run.

“Then I shot him,” said Gray.

We were looking through the windows at the river boats. A pretty girl walked along the embankment, followed by a Thames Television van, a mobile camera, and about a dozen figures whose identities were concealed by long hair and sunglasses. A quiet summer’s day, Britain on the verge of going into the European Common Market, Willy Brandt about to take West Germany into a new relationship with the Communist East… and here was Bormann, back to haunt us. The skeleton in everybody’s cupboard.

“You shot him?”

“I stood in the middle of the road with the Sten and got him on the run at a distance of about a hundred feet.”

I did not doubt Gray’s honesty.

“And then?”

“The rest of the gang fired back. I rolled into a ditch. They grabbed the body of Bormann and went on shooting.”

“What gang?”

“Well, we knew it as Die Spinne, the Spider.”

“You knew the name then? Or you read it since?”

He shifted his large bulk. “I knew the name. One of the escape organizations. The Americans and the British could never get the ringleaders.”

He took up his story again. He had hidden in the ditch, afraid to move. He saw two men lift what he believed to be Bormann’s body and haul it to the bank of the fjord. He heard splashing noises and then a silence. He got up, walked to the edge of the water. There was a fitful moon, layers of mist, and lights glowing in the distance. Standing there, he saw a small rowboat silhouetted against the brighter northern sky. The boat rocked unsteadily. Two men stood upright, holding what he believed to be a weighted sack. The sack went overboard with a splash that Ronald Gray can hear to this day.

A curious story. Gray was not acting with the knowledge of regular British military authorities, and yet he was never charged with breaking regulations. He said nothing publicly until 1965, when he was outraged by the prospect of an amnesty for German war criminals. He got in touch with West German judicial authorities. And after that, according to his version, he got the runaround.

Checking parts of his story was easy enough. Captain Grundy was now a Liverpool advertising man. Ursula Schmidt had married Robert Brookes, a Welshman, and now lived in Rhyl, although she frequently visited her family, who had moved from No. 41, Bismarckstrasse, Flensburg, to a new home in Bad Godesberg.

Did Gray run escapees across the border with tacit British Army approval in order to catch ringleaders? The War Office knew nothing of such a game. Then why was he not put on charges? No answer. His record since then made it clear that authority had every confidence in him: he was in Berlin in 1948, on a renewed British Army contract, engaged in intelligence work.

And the State Prosecutor in Frankfurt, where the main work was done for years to bring war criminals before West German courts? He was, at the time, Joachim Richter, according to Gray, who made several trips to the Frankfurt office. Gray claimed that his sworn testimony, his letters, and his later submissions were all “lost.” He had inquired into the background of the small staff. He believed that for many reasons none of them wished to pursue inquiries into Bormann’s fate.

“Your Bormann?”

“The man I saw dropped into the fjord. They could easily drag for the skeleton, even now. But any kind of Bormann. It’s possible I was meant to see a ‘dead body’ dropped into Flensborg Fjord that night. It’s possible I’ve been wrong. I don’t understand, though, why nobody wants to investigate my story!”

Gray had impeccable references. He was not a man obsessed. He was in his late forties, good-humored, physically very fit. He liked West Germans, had fought against Communist forces in Korea. He had suffered no personal losses from Nazi bestiality. He read Communist publications from East Germany with an open mind, but his adult life had been spent in a disciplined Western environment.

He was telling what he believed to be the truth.

The mystery of German official disinterest is a matter for conjecture. But it is a fact that the Cold War dampened interest in Nazi war criminals. There are qualified observers who say the Cold War was started deliberately by the only Nazi spy chief to be taken straight from Hitler’s side to ours; and these observers are far from being Communists.

Gray’s story happens to fit into a reconstruction of events following the night Martin Bormann slipped out of the Führer’s bunker in Berlin. The refusal to give it credence is understandable. In 1959 the West German government felt obliged, for reasons of diplomacy, to open an office that would co-ordinate investigations into crimes committed during World War II. Its title is “Ludwigsburg Central Office for the Elucidation of National Socialist Crimes.” It lacks any power to prosecute. Its job has been somewhat romanticized as being the pursuit of the guilty. Not all guilt, however. Not guilt involving torture. Only Nazi crimes of mass murder.

It was born late. It depended on the co-operation of the state authorities, most of whom ignored its representations. Its investigators were regarded with distaste by other police agencies. Its lawyers knew that the judicial system was infiltrated with former Nazis, and therefore their own careers were unlikely to prosper if they looked too closely into that can of worms. Five years after it opened, twenty years after Bormann disappeared, the man in charge of the Ludwigsburg Office was found to have been a member of the Nazi party, a storm trooper, and a judge in Hitler’s people’s courts.

As somebody pointed out to Gray, he was lucky to be alive. He was sticking his nose into a very strange business indeed.

Why, then, pursue it? I had asked that question a hundred times since the mystery of Martin Bormann first began to plague a world anxious to forget and perhaps afraid to look too deeply into a recent chapter in the history of that part of the human race which has prided itself upon being superior and civilized. I had asked the question, not because Bormann interested me, but because the mystery fascinated so many others. It was partly because Bormann represented secret power; and in our disheveled human condition today, we suspect that the trappings of democracy are more of a dangerous camouflage than before, that real power begins where secrecy begins.

Martin Bormann, we see now, possessed that secret power.

He possessed it to such a degree that he was able to escape the gallows.

The lady in Jacob’s Well Mews said: “Don’t fall for the temptation of the treasure hunt.”

I murmured something about being too old for treasure hunts.

She nodded. “The treasure hunt is chasing up every story that Bormann’s alive.”

“I don’t collect such stories. I haven’t time, resources, or even the inclination to chase them.”

She glanced down into the narrow lane behind Oxford Street where crumbling old gardeners’ cottages have been converted into smart but discreet offices or the kind of cozy mews flats occupied by actresses. Her whole professional life was concerned with democratic institutions in Germany. She betrayed no signs of damage, even though she had lost an uncountable number of relatives in the camps. She was surrounded by the records of torture, mass killings, and medical experiments on captive humans. She journeyed frequently to Germany and she was determined to believe the best: the West German schools were making a real effort to look at their own people’s recent past; the courts were doing their best to see that justice was done. She refused to lapse into the role of a mild but implacable Jewish monomaniac who would never rest until every German accused of genocide had been brought to justice.

“All we know for certain is that there have been false trails without number because there is a sinister romance surrounding his name. Who has the slightest idea of what Bormann looks like? You may say there are photographs and descriptions. And I reply that these are the pictures and details that fit anybody and everyone. Come into the street, and I will point you out twenty Bormanns in the space of twenty minutes.”

Out of the mews and across the street is London’s famous old Spanish Catholic Church. Farther along George Street is one of those unobtrusive London hotels that never have to advertise: Durrant’s. Here in wartime stayed the secret agents who had business with the Baker Street Irregulars (the British Special Operations Executive), just around the corner, before parachuting into Nazi territory. Here I met Dr. Otto John for the first of our discussions. He was one of those tortured Germans, or so it has always seemed to me, who are torn between their perception of what is right and their instinctive loyalty to their own people. He had twice been called a traitor by General Reinhard Gehlen, who tried in postwar West Germany to ease his rival out of the top job concerned with internal security. John had crossed into Communist East Germany, had been taken into the Russian interior by his opposite numbers in the Soviet secret service, and then had escaped back again into the West.

He smiled resignedly when I mentioned the analogy of the treasure hunt. “You mean the lost Nazi treasures, the forged banknotes, the stolen art treasures, and Bormann’s hoard of gold coins?”

“I don’t mean anything. This is all incidental. Did you just get fed up with what you discovered as Bonn’s head of security? Is that why you crossed over to the Russians?”

He shook his head. We were drinking gin-and-tonics in an elegant back-room bar. “Let’s talk generalities,” he said. “The Nazi war criminals exist but who judges them? Certainly the Communists can get convictions. They drag these creatures into court when the case is already settled, and then shoot them. But in a free society? You need witnesses. Not silent witnesses. I mean men and women able to use the power of words still. There were few enough twenty years ago. Even then, those who could have said ‘I saw this,’ ‘I heard that’ were often unable to speak. What remains now? Files. Millions of words, and cellars filled with documents, and a few dedicated Germans honestly trying to secure justice. The German authorities know the identity of major war criminals, they know where they are, they know their abominable histories. But these days, the Bonn government would be wasting votes to go after them, even if it could. The public is not concerned any more. The few Germans who want justice done, they cannot get a legal grip upon the guilty, and the guilty know it. The guilty are beginning already to boast of their actions, and say they acted for the good of the nation. They cannot be brought to trial for lack of compelling evidence.”

Dr. John was a German liberal who hated Nazism and was convinced that he must act against it. He conspired against the rule of Hitler and failed. His brother was shot in the aftermath of the July 1944 bomb plot. He spoke out against Konrad Adenauer’s regime after the war and failed again. He had been in prison or internment in Germany, in Portugal, in England, in Russia, and now in effect he was exiled from his homeland again. He had given information to the British secret service during the war before making the dangerous trip back to Berlin, where, since 1942, he had been in touch with men who wanted to destroy Hitler and all his works. His friends of the resistance—those who survived—helped him gain office as head of BfV Bundesamt für Verfassungsschutz, the Federal Office for Protection of the Constitution). The former opponents of Nazism were resolved to prevent this post from falling into the hands of ex-Nazis. And former Nazis were equally resolved to get John out. The most talented of the old Nazis was Gehlen, who, as head of the new German secret service, used his position to rescue old SS and other Nazi comrades.

John’s experience with double-dealing and betrayal was not likely, I thought, to make him talkative in this year when East Germany was finally recognized as a separate and independent nation. But there comes a time when a man no longer cares about consequences to himself and becomes wholly concerned with truth. That doesn’t make it any easier, of course. Who defines truth? For what the comment is worth, I felt that Dr. John’s struggle to keep life in focus had just begun in the autumn of 1972. The lady in Jacob’s Well Mews took a cold and intellectual view of events; perhaps because it was her only protection, her only way of remaining sane. John was, and probably always had been, an emotional person whose “defection” to Russia and back again seemed to be a consequence of his own horror at what his people had done and might be doing again.

“Is it really so hard to get an extradition order against a notorious Nazi?” I asked him.

“Yes. I was—I am—a lawyer. I know.”

“It’s not enough to say ‘I accuse’?”

“That’s what the Nazis said.”

“Then Bormann has little to fear from the law?”

“Even Hitler would not be prosecuted in West Germany once the statute of limitations ran out.” He glanced around the lounge: leather-upholstered chairs occupied by straight-backed tweedy Englishmen and frail ladies in floppy hats. “Bormann could walk in here now and I wouldn’t be surprised. He could wear his name around his neck and offer evidence of his identity and I wouldn’t be surprised if he was asked politely to keep his voice down.”



CHAPTER 2

In the latter half of 1972, certain European and American newspapers published a series of reports by a serious, respected writer who claimed to have discovered Martin Bormann alive in South America. Bormann, who leads all lists as the most wanted of the condemned but unexecuted Nazi war criminals, seems capable of provoking headlines at the drop of an allegation. Within weeks of those published reports, investigations by other journalists and authorities cast substantial doubts on the authenticity and value of the evidence supporting this “discovery.” This was not the first claim since his disappearance more than a quarter-century ago that Martin Bormann has been found “alive.” It will not likely be the last.

Hardly had the journalistic ripples of the 1972 “live” discovery of Bormann quieted down when the first of the 1973 “dead” theories surfaced, this one in a West German newspaper. A skeleton, one of two unearthed accidentally in West Berlin by a labor crew in December of 1972, was studied “for more than a month” by Dr. Heinz Spengler, Director of the Institute for Forensic Medicine. He based his conclusion, the story continued, on “comparisons of the skull with photographs of Bormann, discovery of a mended collar bone break such as one Bormann had suffered, measurements of the skeleton, and correspondence of the skull’s dentures with a sketch of Bormann’s teeth made by his dentist.” This would seem a reasonable scientific procedure conducted over a substantially long enough period to reach an authoritative finding. Or, on reflection, does it seem reasonable?

In all my searching I have been able to find no fully detailed physical description of Martin Bormann. Few photographs of the man exist. Such recollections of Bormann’s height as have been noted by those who knew him vary by as much as four to six inches. His actual dental records do not exist; the comparison made in this recent instance relies solely on the memory of a dentist who had not seen his patient for almost thirty years. Yet such evidence seems to have persuaded Dr. Spengler to venture the unqualified statement “There is no longer any doubt. One of the skeletons is the remains of Bormann.” That is not the first time skeletal fragments purporting to be the earthly remains of Martin Bormann have been discovered.

The puzzle of Bormann’s fate persists now as it has over the years, over the decades. Thousands of trained professionals—military and diplomatic intelligence agencies of at least ten nations—have attempted to pick up the trail that started in the flames of crumbling Berlin as the city fell to the Allies in May 1945. Independent investigators—journalists in search of history, unofficial groups in search of vengeance—have joined the strange, unending pursuit. Bormann’s whereabouts has been publicly reported, always without eventual confirmation, always without concrete proof, in places as distant from Berlin as mainland China and South America. Rumors and theories, perhaps feeding on one another, have sent him over the northern borders of defeated Germany into Scandinavia, or south into the lonely mountain passes of the Alpine Fortress. Tales, unsubstantiated, have him escaping by submarine, plane, boat, truck, or foot. The search for Martin Bormann has not yielded its quarry.

Ronald Gray’s brief crossing of the uncertain path has provided him with a bizarre, frightening memory and a gnawing question that evades an answer. Bewilderment.

One professional investigator, hardened by hard fact of a hideous, endless variety, warns against getting caught up in a single foolhardy obsession. Cool logic, cold comfort.

And one soul, a benevolent spy, bent by the weight of spent idealism, self-doubt, guilt, and the realization of the human capacity for deceit, muses on whether civilized society can be long spared its blind, mannered suicide. Skepticism forged into cynicism.

Is that where the puzzle of Martin Bormann leads—to some miserable way station on the road from confusion to despair? Is it the stuff of sporadic news stories, the framework for occasional retrospective articles, the germ for novelists of international intrigues? Yes, it is surely all of that. But it is more, much more. This is a puzzle that, in its way, is a mirror to the darkest reaches of the mind of modern man.

Gray was one of many men drawn unwillingly into the mystery. I was another. Martin Bormann crossed my path near the end of World War II and has kept crossing it year after year. He was like some ghost plucking at my sleeve until I would hear what he had to say. Vanity might lead me to say I recognized, even in the last days of the war, something of its grim importance. I did not. It was easy to hunt for a single man, far easier than to see the significance of the terrors he wrought and the insidious hold he had on the future.

Martin Bormann vanished when he was forty-five years old. That is a simple statement. Other guilty men vanished with him. That is also a simple statement. Did they escape because most of humanity was too stunned by the enormity of their crimes, because it was assumed that nobody would conceal such monsters? As the years passed, it became apparent that they escaped because there were carefully laid plans, brilliantly conceived to give them immediate sanctuary and eventual survival. What seemed so simple when Ronald Gray had his strange encounter at Flensburg had now become complex beyond words. The puzzle broke into fragments, and these in turn broke into smaller pieces. And there was outwardly no visible shape to it.

This must sound, at this stage, a generalization, an oversimplification. Nothing about Bormann will prove to be simple in the end. Each piece in the puzzle, regardless of how it is expanded, explained, rationalized, provokes new questions, deeper profundities. This is the way Bormann cast his shadow during my years of travel with British naval intelligence, as a writer and a foreign correspondent, and as a producer of television documentaries. These activities gave me the opportunity to look and listen and ask questions in distant parts of the world, in Communist as well as Western societies. Others would have done as I did given such opportunities to search and to find. There was never any special merit in this. I had the opportunities. I do not know just when opportunity turned into obligation. This is not, then, a book I chose to write; it had to be written.

I have tried to separate fact from comment. I have sometimes found my journey to be among liars and cheats, where “facts” could be bought by the gross. But there were also documents and authorities whose testimony could be trusted. There were documents available by 1972 to prove just how successfully the Bormann “plan for the future” infiltrated our lives. In London there were files that should have stayed secret under a thirty-year rule. These were opened by the British Foreign Office so that historians could catch some of the sweep of the Nazi period of open oppression. In the Public Record Office in London it was possible for scholars to look at the 1939-1945 war in its entirety. (The situation was different in Washington, where I was told intelligence material had never been declassified and was not likely to be.)

The declassification of British documents made it possible for many men of authority to speak. I was surprised by the number of Americans and Europeans who had honored their promises to British security to keep their knowledge of Nazi operations secret. Some were willing and eager to talk now, because they believed that even honest documents can “lie.”

One Englishwoman was the only survivor of six girls parachuted into Nazi-occupied France. The other five girls were tortured to death. The survivor traced their stories through interviews. She discovered that the girls, all former classmates of hers, were sacrificed deliberately in order to maintain the credibility of other Allied agents, of greater consequence to London. She found that the official documents in the case told a more palatable story. They disassociated the British government from a coldly calculated plan. The girls had been provided with information that it was intended the Nazis would extract from them on the rack. Perhaps the stakes were so high, the consequences so grave, the necessity so clear that this horror had to be employed to counter the known viciousness of the enemy. Does the designer of this scheme, a blurred footnote in the history of British espionage, sleep with nightmares?

Another girl, a German, helped put together pieces of the puzzle. She was a child when Bormann disappeared. She grew up with a sense of horror about her own people. She searched for documents, and concluded that society had perfected a method of piling fact upon fact to produce distortion. She went after other escaped war criminals. She convinced me, without herself once expressing the thought, that a woman’s intuition could be more dependable when it comes to separating truth from falsehood. Her name was Beata Klarsfeld, and each time I crossed her trail, she lightened my gloom.

But the gloom was inevitable. The story was complicated by a personal desire to get away from it. Why should we be forced to rake through this bloody garbage? None of it made sense. Most of it made Western civilization look like a deepening nightmare. And there was so much of it. The persecution of the weak and the helpless was preserved in permanent records. Yet there is too much to grasp; from this overflowing fountain of misery, how can one continue to drink and remain sane?

The files on the German SS filled six freight cars for the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg. Five million pages of typewritten records were produced by the prosecution hearings against twelve major war criminals alone. In twelve subsequent American trials at Nuremberg, another 24,000 pages were made public and a further quarter-million pages were left unpublished. The story they told should have shocked us out of a complacent belief in our Western civilization. They told of the great nation called Germany which had contributed so much for so long to culture and scientific progress and how it brought back slavery on an unprecedented scale; planned the mass murder of entire populations of children, old people, the sick and infirm, Jews, Gypsies, and Slavs; plundered Europe from one end to the other with careful calculation; and trained in schools, with chalk and blackboard, the men and women whose specialty in the middle of the twentieth century was to be the brisk disposal of millions of human lives.

There were documents in plenty and yet somehow they must have overwhelmed us. The documents set forth, beyond all possible contradiction, the behavior of the German people once they became members of their own totalitarian state.

Yes, there were documents all right. Hans Frank kept thirty-eight volumes of his diary while he was Governor General of Poland and using that position to kill and loot wherever he went. He recorded everything. His house was crammed with art treasures, from landscapes by Rembrandt to gilded chalices. His German troops were authorized to kill any non-German who showed hostility. Frank kept detailed notes of events that were regarded by his fellow proconsuls as routine: children scattered the ashes of the cremated on the death-camp roads to make them less slippery; Greek boys were freighted to Silesia for experimental castration; girls were sewn together to make Siamese twins; slave workers had their testicles exposed to X rays, which burned and mutilated them; prisoners of war, soldiers and civilians, captured in the “barbarian” territories of Russia and East Europe were shipped by numbers to labor camps where SS doctors performed experiments under what they called “controlled” conditions.

The whole effect was surrealistic. The documents sent ten men to the gallows on October 15, 1945. The relatively modest series of executions horrified many civilized observers. It came as a purge for Western society. Hitler was dead. Ten of his henchmen had been executed. Now, surely, the night had passed.

Two men condemned by the International Military Tribunal were Göring and Bormann. Field Marshal Hermann Göring crushed and swallowed a phial of potassium cyanide two hours before he was due to hang. Bormann not only cheated the gallows; he also contrived to miss his own trial. He was the only defendant whose case was heard in absentia and who was sentenced in absentia. In retrospect, this was entirely in keeping with the mystery that surrounds the man. Nazism never died on the gallows. Bormann and his companions never intended to see their life’s work destroyed.

The German Brotherhood (Die deutsche Gemeinschaft) was explained to me first by one of the Latin-American intelligence agents managed by Sir William Stephenson, Winston Churchill’s personal representative in charge of secret operations during World War II. In putting together the pieces of the Bormann puzzle, I received enormous help and encouragement from “Little Bill,” as he was called, and his American associates. His great comrade in wartime was General William J. Donovan, chief of the Office of Strategic Services. Stephenson said, when I went to him with my last bits of the puzzle in 1972: “Nothing deceives like a document.”

His man in Latin America repeated the warning. “The spirit of Nazism binds groups of men who keep no membership lists, who seldom refer to each other by their real names, and who manipulate and operate like the old German Brotherhood which gave Bormann a stranglehold on Hitler. There’s no documentation for those sort of people.”

There is, instead, this man Bormann, who covertly governed the Third Reich. For more than twenty years, this stocky peasant with the pug nose and the obsequious habits of a butler brought together into his misleadingly soft and plump hands the strings that manipulated the Führer. Long after Hitler was dead, historians continued to misinterpret his role and his character. This is the measure of the man. He never cared for the visible trappings of power. He wanted the reality of it. He moved in Hitler’s court, a shrewd and unobtrusive figure who was looked down upon by the thin-lipped generals with their bogus tradition of aristocracy. Foolish men like Joachim von Ribbentrop, hungry for titles and honors, disregarded him. Intellectual snobs like Albert Speer continued into the 1970’s to speak of Bormann as a crude and vulgar peasant. Crazed ideologists like Alfred Rosenberg, apostle for a Nazi religion, said he was illiterate.

Nazi strategists had plotted for many years to set the West against Russia. They continued with that plan after the war ended. Members of the Bormann Brotherhood became hired agents of Western intelligence. How that came about is one of the pieces in the puzzle. Each piece seems outrageous enough. The cumulative effect becomes as difficult to grasp as the Third Reich itself. The Nazi experiment to produce a master race in Germany had failed, and so the Germans had proved themselves unworthy. The experiment must be resumed elsewhere. Farsighted Nazis had prepared for this, but they were also concerned about the legalities.

At the time of the Nuremberg trials, a great new sense of moral purpose had started to sweep the Western part of the world. The Cold War required some temporary expediencies, however. We told ourselves that the means justified the ends. The Soviets told themselves the same comforting story. And both sides plunged into a wild competition to buy Nazis with professional experience in war and military science. So, little by little, we drifted into that very climate of opinion upon which Bormann and his brothers counted. They began to come out into the open, so quietly that few of us noticed.

Bormann himself became an inconvenient symbol. He was a reminder of the past, whereas the West had accepted the small compromises: the fact, for instance, that by 1970 there were 176 German generals in a revived West German Army, and that every single one of them had served under Hitler as a senior officer. By the 1970’s it was possible to buy the memoirs of the “Hangman of Lyons,” who had taken refuge in Latin America. He was a member of the Brotherhood and he felt safe enough to tell the world that he did nothing more than his duty as a Gestapo chief when he sent orphaned children to the gas chambers.

A chronological account would fail to give cohesion and understanding to so complex a narrative. So I have felt free to rove in time and place. My purpose is to move back and forth and to fill in as many elements of fact and motivations as can provide a balanced view of an unbalanced world, a panorama of mania that defies the imagination of a reasonable individual. And I have tried to put the pieces together as best I can, but without pretense that I would solve the puzzle.

Before I set forth the pieces, there is one more thing to be said. Martin Bormann kept careful note of everything, and when he left the burning corpse of Hitler, he took with him more than a thousand typed pages, headed “Notes of fundamental interest for the future: To be preserved with the greatest care.” This is the real dimension of the puzzle. This is the measure of its meaning.



PART TWO

THE PIECES




CHAPTER 3

There was never an exact description of Martin Bormann.

The most detailed was given me by the late Walter Schellenberg, former chief of the Nazi foreign intelligence service: “Scar on left cheek, thin strands of hair, balding, between five feet three inches tall and five feet seven inches.”

The discrepancy of four inches seemed extravagant. Schellenberg shrugged. “Everything about him was inexact. Some say there are thumbprints in police records from when he was jailed for murder, but I say the records are in Communist hands. Some say there are SS tattoo marks giving his blood group under one arm. I say he never went through that procedure because he was given purely an honorary SS membership and rank by Himmler, who wanted to curry favor.”

This exchange took place in Switzerland just after Hitler’s former spy chief had conferred in Spain with Hitler’s former SS commando chief, Otto (“Scarface”) Skorzeny. It was the year 1951, at Pallanza, on the shores of Lake Maggiore. There was nothing about Schellenberg to provoke any feelings one way or another. He had contributed to the British study of Bormann at a peculiar stage in his career; and now he was eager to prove that he had never served Hitler, only Germany. He offered more of his personal impressions of Bormann; and these, too, were much the same as the information filtered through Anglo-German contacts in the Iberian peninsula during the war.

“I studied Bormann’s technique with Hitler and realized he controlled the Führer. He did this by making himself indispensable. This was long before the war, mark you, and I remember thinking I would refuse to make myself a slave to any man just to control him. But in those days I didn’t understand where Bormann was going….

“You see, Bormann had a cast-iron memory and the constitution of an ox. He looked like an ox. He was stocky, with round and powerful shoulders and a short bullish neck. His head was pushed forward and cocked to one side all the time. He seemed like one of those women wrestlers in Berlin, moving sideways in the mud, waiting to trick an opponent. Shifty eyes, always ready to cut you down. Very nimble for such a heavy man. Short, fat fingers like a certain kind of sausage you see hanging in bunches. The fingers were covered with black hair along the back. Women liked him, you know, because he had so much hair.

“He remembered everything. He knew exactly what to say, and when to say it, but only in regard to Hitler. He was like a devoted and intelligent wife, removing from the Führer any responsibility for small daily worries. There was something funny in this relationship though, as if he also provided the Führer with a sense of physical strength. Hitler, you know, looked awful in bathing suits. Bormann was like a pig in a potato field, and in Germany this is not such a bad way to look. In my diaries, I wrote how Himmler made such a contrast—a stork in a lily pond.”

SS Lieutenant General Schellenberg was a dapper little Nazi technocrat who was cut out of Bormann’s plans for survival because of his own secret contacts with Western intelligence and his attempts, while fighting was at its height, to bargain in neutral Sweden for his own life. He was absorbed into a British secret-service net and spent five postwar years in what had been a lunatic asylum outside London. This asylum provided the perfect cover for the long-term interrogation of such men.

Schellenberg had made a permanent enemy of Gehlen when the latter was head of the Wehrmacht’s Fremde Heere Ost (Foreign Armies East) intelligence service, which specialized in Soviet affairs. Gehlen had played on Western fears of Communism, and overnight became the chief of his own organization, which spied for American intelligence. These were all posts Schellenberg thought he was better suited to fill; and in his jealous rage he disclosed what purported to be a conspiracy to make use of the Gehlen Org as a channel of escape for war criminals. Many of Gehlen’s agents, subsidized by Western intelligence funds, proved to be notorious Gestapo and SS killers. This piece of the puzzle is examined later.

What Schellenberg gave me was a glimpse of the shape and personality of Martin Bormann when he was operating at his peak. The outline can be filled in with some of the detail of Bormann’s early years. A psychoanalytical report by Allied intelligence focused on his loss of his father at the age of four, and his sense after that of being unwanted within the family. He had been born on June 17, 1900, in the small Lower Saxony town of Halberstadt. His father was a trumpeter in a military band. The widow remarried, a banker, and the boy was conscripted as a cannoneer near the end of World War I. He never saw action.

He joined the Society Against Presumptuousness of the Jewry after eight months’ military service and an even briefer postwar search for work. He found what he later called an estate-management job, having attached himself to a family of local landowners. There is no record of why the twenty-year-old youth became fired by anti-Semitism. A number of writers of the time were preaching a secular neo-Teutonic Aryanism. A Cistercian monk, Lanz von Liebenfals, as far back as 1900 had used the swastika as a symbol of his Order of the New Templars. The monk produced books and pamphlets which are said to have influenced Hitler, too: certainly, they met, and Liebenfals later took credit for some of Hitler’s proposals for a “final solution to the Jewish problem.”

Bormann had a strong affinity to the peasantry, and this seems to have drawn him to the monk’s vision of a master race springing out of the good earth. “The race can only flourish on the land,” wrote Liebenfals. The Germans of pure Aryan blood would purify and strengthen themselves through direct contact with the soil. The Jews polluted the pure Aryan blood because they were alienated from this blood-and-iron influence. Therefore the Jews must be destroyed. He set forth the manner of liquidating the Jewish people in details so revolting that intellectuals could never take him seriously. Bormann did, and his actions later surpassed anything the monk conceived in flights of hate-ridden fantasy. What was manifest at the start of this century as a mad monk’s muddled and malevolent fiction became within thirty or forty years fearful reality. Other theorists were writing a pseudo-scientific version of mankind’s evolution—men like Richard Wagner, whom Hitler idolized. Bormann grew up in a society saturated in mysticism masquerading as a new order, a properly scientific view based upon Darwin’s revolutionary ideas of how man evolved from ape.

The prospect of Germans proving to be a master race was attractive in those years of defeat. It became an obsession with Bormann, and, like any religion, it provided him with an excuse to pursue purely selfish ends. His love of money, his greed for power, were commented upon by Gerhard Rossbach in an interview many years later. Rossbach had led a Freikorps, a group of armed volunteers supported by the German Army, which had been restricted in the number of regular soldiers it could keep on the books by the Versailles Treaty. Bormann became treasurer of the group after it underwent several changes of name to evade the law. The mission of the Freikorps was to weed out weaklings said to have caused German sufferings. The groups were also used to fight Bolshevik forces on the eastern frontier. But the young German republican government also saw them as a threat to its own existence. They were declared illegal in 1920, but were more active than ever by 1923, when the French executed Leo Schlageter, a Freikorps soldier, for industrial sabotage. The incident took place in the industrial heart of Germany, which was under French and Belgian occupation. The German economy was falling apart. The execution brought to a climax all the feelings of resentment and frustrated nationalism.

Rossbach’s organization, masquerading as the Union for Agricultural Professional Training, recalled at that time one of its former members, Walter Kadow, who became the first recorded victim of Bormann’s talent for destroying those he regarded as rivals. Kadow, a young schoolteacher, borrowed 30,000 marks (a paltry sum when translated into present terms, about four dollars, but a great deal to a family which could buy groceries for a week with such an amount) from the group’s treasury, of which Bormann was the guardian. Bormann announced that he would make Kadow work until he had paid off the money, but he also whispered to the group’s strong-arm section that Kadow had betrayed the Freikorps soldier shot by the French. When the teacher returned to headquarters, he was taken at night into the forest and beaten until his teeth fell out and his arms and legs were broken. His throat was then cut. To cap the night’s work, two bullets were fired into his head.

Years later, the Führer’s Order of Blood* was awarded to Bormann for this object lesson to traitors. But in July 1923 there was still some measure of morality abroad. Bormann was placed under investigative arrest in Leipzig, and eight months later stood trial, along with other members of the Rossbach group, for Kadow’s murder. From the trial records, Bormann emerges in his classic role: he had only told the others what to do, provided a car and weapons, and he denounced Kadow as a traitor and a Bolshevik. (Kadow was never shown to be involved in the Freikorps soldier’s execution; nor had he displayed interest in left-wing politics.)

Bormann got away with murder. He did it with the style that became his trademark: “I’ve signed nothing; you can prove nothing.” The man who kept voluminous notes on the activities of others was nimble in keeping himself out of documents. He left no fingerprints because he handled no weapons. Even the thumbprints about which there was to be so much speculation were later extracted from the records of the State Court for the Defense of the Republic of Leipzig.

The court sentenced Bormann to a year in prison. His puppet, Rudolf Franz Höss, who was to have studied for the Catholic priesthood, got ten years’ hard labor. Höss betrayed no bitterness at taking the rap for Bormann; he could never pin down in precise detail how it was that Bormann manipulated the affair. His jail sentence was terminated by a general amnesty, and he was rewarded by a series of promotions, which led ultimately to the post of commandant at Auschwitz. Thus he became the SS Report Leader at Dachau concentration camp when he should have been serving time himself. Bormann continued to take a protective interest in his career as a mass killer.

By this early age, Bormann had developed principles that would guide him through life: never be directly responsible for controversial decisions, never leave your imprint on anything, never forget to advance the interests of those who can help you and those who can hurt you. Many of his victims were advanced by him into situations from which death was the only exit. He carried his fear of leaving any tracks behind him to the extreme and induced Hitler to sign the order that Bormann must not be photographed.

Hitler at this time was serving fourteen months because of the failed Putsch of 1923. The Nazi party had been declared illegal, but the ban was lifted in 1925 and Hitler, free again, revived it. By then, Bormann had joined another anti-Semitic group, the Frontbann, which was a successor to the German Fighting Union. These militant groups shared the same aims: make Germany the most powerful nation, crush Communism, destroy Jews.

Bormann was a hired hand, in charge of peasant farmers who rented their land from his employers, when he became Nazi party member 60/508. He served as press chief of the party in Thuringia, and then as business manager. Here he learned to make more skillful use of party funds; here he learned that power resided in the Gau. There were forty-one such administrative regions into which Germany was divided by the Nazis. A Gauleiter was a dictator in his region.

A joint intelligence study made by American and British experts following the wartime flight of Rudolf Hess showed just how clever Bormann had been to concentrate on power within the party. The barons of the Third Reich were these forty-one Gauleiter,* and the 808 Kreisleiter, 28,376 Ortsgruppenleiter, in charge of towns or sections of large cities, 89,378 Zellenleiter, over Nazi cells consisting of several districts in each city, and, underpinning this structure, several hundred thousand Blockleiter, who were small gods in their own neighborhoods.

Hitler had a sentimental regard for these subordinates, and he maintained it against pressures from other power groups, including the military. A year after he became Chancellor of the German Reich, he said at the National Socialist German Workers’ party rally in Nuremberg: “The state does not command us. We command the state.” The Nazis were the only legal party by then, and in effect the Führer’s statement placed the party in supreme command. All party matters were handled by the Office of the Deputy Führer, Rudolf Hess, who explained all this in considerable detail after his flight to Britain, which owed its inspiration to Bormann.

How did Bormann advance from being an ex-convict in 1926 to Reich Leader and Chief of Staff to Hess by 1933, shortly after Hitler came to power?

For one thing, he married the sturdy, pure-blooded Aryan, blonde daughter of the man who kept party discipline: Walter Buch, Chairman of the party “court.” The girl, Gerda, was fanatical in her devotion to German folklore and her hatred of all forms of religion. She met Bormann in 1928 when he became a staff officer of the Supreme Command of the Brown Shim, the storm troopers who beat down anyone who spoke against the party at Nazi rallies. Hitler was a witness to the marriage, and shortly afterward Bormann became leader of the Aid Fund of the Nazi party, and placed large numbers of key party officials in his debt by the discreet distribution of loans.
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